
 

 

 

 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
2.00 PM - TUESDAY, 9 FEBRUARY 2016 

 
COMMITTEE ROOMS 1/2 - PORT TALBOT CIVIC CENTRE 

 
(SITE VISIT LEAVING PORT TALBOT CIVIC CENTRE AT 11.30AM) 

 
 
 PART 1 

 
1.  To receive any declarations of interest from Members.   

 
2.  To receive the Minutes of the previous meeting held on 19 January 

2016  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 

 Report of the Head of Planning 
 

 SECTION A - MATTERS FOR DECISION 
 Planning Application subject to Members Site Visit Leaving 

Port Talbot Civic Centre at 11.30am - Recommended for 
Refusal 
 

3.  Application No: P2015/0694 - Demolition of Existing Golf Driving 
Range and re- development of the Site for up to 35 dwellings at 
Lakeside Golf Driving Range, Water Street, Margam, Port 
Talbot,SA13 2PA  (Pages 9 - 36) 
 

 SECTION B  - MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 
 

4.  Margam Open Cast Coal Site  (OCCS) - Update Report  (Pages 37 
- 40) 
 

5.  Delegated Applications Determined between 12 January and 1 
February 2016  (Pages 41 - 50) 
 

6.  Any urgent items at the discretion of the Chairman pursuant to 

AGENDA 



Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972.   
 

 
S.Phillips 

Chief Executive 
 

Civic Centre 
Port Talbot Tuesday 2 February 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Committee Membership:  
 
Chairperson: Councillor R.G.Jones 

 
Vice 
Chairperson: 
 

Councillor E.E.Jones 
 

Members: 
 

Councillors Mrs.A.Chaves, D.W.Davies, 
Mrs.R.Davies, S.K.Hunt, H.N.James, D.Keogh, 
Mrs.S.Paddison, C.Morgan, R.Thomas, 
Mrs.L.G.Williams and A.J.Taylor 
 

Cabinet 
UDP/LDP 
Member: 

Councillor A.J.Taylor 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Requesting to Speak at Planning Committee 
 
The public have a right to attend the meeting and address the Committee 
in accordance with the Council’s approved procedure which is available at 
www.npt.gov.uk/planning. 
If you would like to speak at Planning Committee on an application 
reported to this Committee you must: 
 

 Contact Democratic Services in writing at : Civic Centre, Port Talbot 
SA13 1PJ, preferably by email: democratic.services@npt.gov.uk.  

 Ensure your request to speak is made no later than two working 
days prior to the meeting date (by 2 pm on the preceding Friday 
based on a usual Tuesday meeting),  

 Clearly indicate the item number or application number on which 
you wish to speak and confirm whether you are supporting or 
objecting to the application. 

 Give your name and address (which will be publicly available unless 
there are particular reasons for confidentiality) 

 
Please note that only one person is able to speak in favour of, and one 
against, each application.  Full details are available in the Council’s 
approved procedure. 
 
Should you wish to discuss any aspect of public speaking, please contact 
the Democratic Services Team on 01639 763719. 
 
 
Applicant / Agent Right of Reply  
 
Please note that, should an objector register to speak, the Applicant/Agent 
will be notified by the Council of their ability to address committee (their 
‘right to reply’). Should the applicant/agent wish to exercise that right, it 
will be necessary to confirm this to the Democratic Services section before 
noon on the day before the meeting. 
 

Commenting on planning applications which are to be reported to 
Committee 

Should you wish to submit representations on an application presented to 
this Planning Committee, please note that these must be received by the 
Planning department no later than 4.30p.m. on the Friday before 
Committee (based on the usual Tuesday meeting).  If the meeting is not 

http://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/procedure_note_for_new_%20planning_cttee_arrangments_final_version.pdf
http://www.npt.gov.uk/planning
mailto:democratic.services@npt.gov.uk
http://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/procedure_note_for_new_%20planning_cttee_arrangments_final_version.pdf
http://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/procedure_note_for_new_%20planning_cttee_arrangments_final_version.pdf


on a Tuesday, these should be received no later than 4.30pm on the 
penultimate working day immediately preceding the Planning Committee.  

Please note that representations received in accordance with the 
Council’s protocol are summarised and, where necessary, commented 
upon in the form of an Amendment Sheet, which is circulated to Members 
of the Planning Committee by email on the evening before Committee, 
and presented in hard copy form at the actual meeting. 

 
 



- 38 - 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 (PORT TALBOT CIVIC CENTRE) 

 
Members Present:  19 January 2016 
 
 
Chairperson: 
 

Councillor R.G.Jones 
 

Vice Chairperson: 
 

Councillor E.E.Jones 
 

Councillors: 
 
 
 
LDP/UDP Member: 

D.W.Davies, Mrs.R.Davies, S.K.Hunt, 
H.N.James, D.Keogh, Mrs.S.Paddison, 
C.Morgan and Mrs.L.G.Williams 
 
Councillor A.J.Taylor 

  
Officers In 
Attendance: 
 

S.Ball, I.Davies and Miss.G.Cirillo 
 

 
1. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 
RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the Planning 

Committee held on the 22nd December 
2015 as circulated, be confirmed as a true 
record. 
 

Report of the Head of Planning 
 
Planning Applications Approved 
 

2. APPLICATION NO: P2015/0905 - DEMOLITION OF EXISTING 
STABLE BLOCK AND CONSTRUCTION OF 6 NO. BUNGALOWS 
WITH ASSOCIATED WORKS AT FORMER STABLES, BAGLAN 
PARK, PORT TALBOT SA12 8PS  
 
RESOLVED: that in accordance with the Officer 

recommendation subject to the signing of 
a Section 106 Agreement to require a 
financial contribution of £2700 towards 
public open space in Baglan Park and 
subject to the Conditions as set out in the 
circulated report, the Application be 
approved. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



- 39 - 
 

190116 

 
 

3. APPLICATION NO: P2015/0363 - THREE DETACHED 
DWELLINGS AND ASSOCIATED ENGINEERING OPERATIONS 
AND LANDSCAPING AT REAR OF 84-90 HENFAES ROAD, 
TONNA, NEATH SA11 3EX  
 

In accordance with the Council’s approved Public Speaking Protocol, 
Ms.C. Evans (Objector) and Mr. B. Sutcliffe (Applicant - Right of 
Reply) addressed the Planning Committee. 

 

RESOLVED: that in accordance with the Officer 
recommendation subject to the 
Conditions and the Signing of a 106 
Agreement with regard to clawback 
provision on Affordable Housing, as 
detailed in the circulated report, the 
Application be approved. 

 
4. APPEALS RECEIVED  

 
RESOLVED: That the following Appeal Received, as 

detailed in the circulated report, be noted: 
 
Appeal Ref: A2016/0001 
 
Residential Dwelling (Outline with all 
matters reserved).  Plot adjacent to 
Penrhiw Woodbine Cottages, Melin Court, 
Neath. 
 

5. DELEGATED APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BETWEEN 16 
DECEMBER 2015 AND 11 JANUARY 2016  
 
Members received a list of Planning Applications which had been 
determined between the 16 December  2015 and 11 January  2016. 
 
RESOLVED: that the report be noted. 

 
 
 

Page 6



- 40 - 
 

190116 

6. URGENT ITEM  
 
Because of the need to deal now with the matters contained in Minute 
No.7 below, the Chairman agreed that this could be raised at today’s 
meeting as an urgent item pursuant to Section 100B (4)(b) of the 
Local Government Act 1972. 
 
Reason 
 
To update Members about imminent Planning Applications and Site 
Visits. 
 
 

7. SITE VISITS  
 
The Chairperson reminded Members that due to the series of Local 
Development Plan Meetings held earlier today, the Site Visit 
requested  at the last meeting on 22nd December 2015 for Application 
No:P2015/0694 – Demolition of existing Golf Driving Range and Re-
development of Site at Water Street, Margam Port Talbot, will now 
take place on the morning of the next scheduled Planning Committee 
which will be 9 February 2016. 
 
In addition, the Chairman informed the Planning Committee that the 
Council had received a Planning Application for a development of 139 
Homes at Tonmawr (Planning Application Ref: 2015/0011). This 
Application is one of the first development sites to come through the 
process which now relates to the Local Development Plan.  Members 
were informed that the Application had received a considerable 
amount of public interest and because of this it was felt that it is likely 
that there would be a request for a Site Visit.  
 
In anticipation of the information as described above, and the fact that 
it was acknowledged that a Site Visit may be beneficial in this 
instance, and to reduce any further delay in the determination of this 
Application which has been in for some time, the Chairperson 
proposed that a Site Visit take place to enable Members to view the 
site and therefore be aware of the all the issues in advance of 
consideration. 
 
RESOLVED: In view of the Chairperson’s update, that a 

Site Visit be held for the following Planning 
Application: 
 

Page 7



- 41 - 
 

190116 

Application No: 2015/0011 
 
Development of 139 No.Homes at 
Tonmawr. 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIRPERSON 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 8



SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION 
 
Planning Applications Recommended For Refusal following 
Members Site Visit 

 

APPLICATION NO: P2015/0694 DATE: 02/11/2015 
PROPOSAL: Demolition of existing golf driving range and 

redevelopment of the site for up to 35 dwellings and 
associated infrastructure (Outline with all matters 
reserved)(Amended edged red boundary plan, revised 
planning statement, design and access statement 
Received 2/11/15) 

LOCATION: Lakeside Golf Driving Range, Water Street,  Margam, 
Port Talbot  SA13 2PA 

APPLICANT: Messrs Whittall, Arter & James 
TYPE: Outline 
WARD: Margam 

 
This application is reported to Committee at the request of the local 
ward Member, Cllr Rob Jones, to ensure that all material considerations 
are properly assessed as part of the determination process and to 
ensure that proper regard is given to a recent letter from Carl Sergeant 
AM which encourages more house building.  
 
The application was reported to the Planning Committee meeting on the 
22nd December 2015 where it was deferred for a site visit to enable 
Members to assess the relationship of the proposed application site to 
the existing adjacent housing developments. The Members site visit is 
to be held on the morning of 9th February 2016. 
 
The report which follows is that which was presented to Members on 
22nd December 2015, albeit amendments have been made to reflect the 
fact that the Neath Port Talbot Local development Plan (LDP) was 
formally adopted by the Council on 27th January 2016 and now 
comprises the Development Plan, superseding the UDP.  
 
Planning History: 
 
Adjoining Site: 
 
94/9632 – Phase 2 9 Hole extension to golf course and 10 residential 
plots – Refused 9/1/95  

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



 
95/9974 – Phase II -9 Hole extension to existing golf course and 
enabling development of 10 residential plots – Approved 21/8/96  
 
97/0153 – Reserved matters application regarding ground levels of 
proposed residential development (10 dwellings) plus drainage details – 
Withdrawn 18/7/03  
 
01/0402 – Fencing to pumping station enclosure (regularising height of 
perimeter fence) – Approved 29/5/01  
 
02/0749 – Variation of Condition No 3 of planning consent P97/0011 
with regard to extension of time limit for submission of reserved matters 
for residential development (Outline) – Approved 16/8/02  
 
Application Site: 
 
03/0001 – Proposed construction of 39 residential units – Withdrawn  
 
03/1009 – Construction of 33 residential dwellings – Withdrawn  
 
05/0476 – Mixed use development, comprising of residential, 
neighbourhood retail/café and public transport infrastructure- Refused 
22/9/05 and subsequently dismissed on Appeal 15/6/06 
 
Publicity and Responses if applicable: 
 
The application was advertised on site and in the press as a departure 
to the development plan and as a major development. Nine individual 
properties were also notified. In response, to date 24 letters of objection 
have been received, which can be summarised as follows: 
 
1. The property could be offered for sale.  
2. Return the site to agricultural land. 
3. The driving range could be re-opened providing the correct 

investment and management was put in place. 
4. The site is allocated as a GreenBelt which is well known and stated 

in previous planning applications.  
5. The site is allocated as a Green Wedge. 
6. The Transport Statement is incorrect with no reference to the nearby 

Kenfig Industrial Estate. 
7. A bus stop 0.8 miles away and lack of pathways do not provide a 

safe route for pedestrians. Water Street has no provision to 

Page 10



encourage walking as it has no pathways, cycling as the road is very 
busy, fast moving and quite narrow in places or public transport as 
there is no provision for this.  

8. The proposal will increase not decrease private car use.  
9. A 250% increase in density represents poor design contrary to the 

advice contained in the TANs. There are approximately 32 houses 
on approximately 13 acres. The application site proposed 35 houses 
on approximately 6 acres.  

10. The proposed public open space especially the waterbody at the 
northern end on the site is constricted. 

11. There is no retail, leisure or health services nearby that can be 
accessed without the need for a motor vehicle.  

12. Increase in noise. 
13. Loss of privacy. 
14. Increase in traffic. 
15. Overbearing  
16. Out of scale  
17. Out of character when compared to existing developments within the 

vicinity. 
18. Impact on highway safety. 
19. Why have the roads and pavements been included in the developers 

boundary and encroaching into the gardens of the houses? 
20. The illustrative plan shows houses opening onto St David’s Park 

which is very narrow. 
21. Only a few residents have received letters notifying them of the 

application. 
22. How has the applicant been allowed to submit this application within 

10 years of the previous application which was refused on appeal?  
23. If maintaining the site is an issue it could be returned to agricultural 

use. 
24. No regard within the design has been made to our aging population. 
25. There is no infrastructure in place for this extra development. 
26. Devaluation of property. 
27. Why was permission given for Phase 2 St David’s Park given the 

problems with the Golf Driving Range.  
28. Permanent loss of a sporting facility which is not surplus to 

requirements. 
29. The site falls within a flood risk area with a highly vulnerable 

classification and should not be allowed. Also the area could flood 
from the local stream to the east. 

30. The submitted Ecological Appraisal recommends further survey 
work, the proposal should be until these surveys are done.  

31. Loss of mature trees. 

Page 11



32. Detrimental impact on flora and fauna. 
33. The proposal removes the potential for long term employment of 

people. 
34. The affordable housing requirement for the area is based in Port 

Talbot and areas around the centre rather than somewhere that has 
poor transportation links. 

35. The provision of off street road parking for each house and garden 
will be small. 

36. The Applicant states that ongoing discussions have taken place 
between the operator, Council and local residents. Were they just a 
chosen few? 

37. Increase in traffic.  
38. The density of the development should be reduced to 20. 
39. The upgrading of the road is welcomed, however they should have 

been brought up to adoptable standard a long time ago.  
40. This site was rejected as an alternative site. 
 
Natural Resources Wales: No objection subject to the imposition of 
conditions requiring the provision of a protective buffer between any 
development and the watercourse and the pond in the area, a 
Landscape and Environment Management Plan and a Construction and 
Environmental Management Plan.  
 
Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust: No objection subject to a 
condition requiring the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological work.  
 
The Coal Authority: No objection subject to the imposition of a 
condition requiring site investigation works prior to commencement of 
development.  
 
Welsh Water: No objection subject to the imposition of a condition 
restricting the occupation of dwellings until a hydraulic modelling 
assessment has been undertaken and the necessary improvements 
have taken place.  
 
Head of Engineering and Transport (Highways): No objection subject 
to conditions requiring the provision of a right hand turn lane, 
improvements to the existing access, visibility splays, provision of a 
footway linking the site to Eglwys Nunydd, Construction Method 
Statement and a number of conditions relating to the internal layout of 
the scheme.  
 

Page 12



Head of Engineering and Transport (Drainage): No objection subject 
to conditions.  
 
Biodiversity Officer: No objection subject to the imposition of a 
condition requiring the submission of a Landscape and Environmental 
Management Plan together with the requirement that Protected Species 
Report is repeated if work does not commence within 2 years.  
 
Land Contamination Officer: No objection to the proposed 
development, however the desk study report highlights that further 
investigative work is required. As such, conditions in relation to 
contaminated land are required.  
 
The Arboricultural Officer: Confirms that the submitted tree survey is 
an accurate description of the trees and confirms those trees which are 
of value and should be retained. A condition is recommended requiring 
trees to be protected prior to any works commencing on site.  
 
Head of Environmental Health and Trading Standards (Noise): No 
objection subject to the imposition of a condition requiring the 
submission of an Environmental Noise Assessment to accompany any 
subsequent reserved matters application.  
 
South Wales Crime Prevention Officer: No objection subject to 
detailed comments in respect of security, lighting, vehicle parking areas, 
landscaping and planting, site layout and boundary identification.  
 
Parks and Neighbourhood Services: Advises that on site Public Open 
Space is defined within the application, assuming this meets the 
standards, no off site contribution will be required.  
 
Play Officer: Advises that the proposed site lies well outside the buffer 
areas for the existing local or neighbourhood provision. Therefore, there 
are no existing play facilities within a distance that children living in the 
development would be able to access. Recommends that improved 
pedestrian linkages from the site are essential if children are to have 
adequate and appropriate play provision and on-site provision be 
included as part of the development.  
 
Education Department: No reply, therefore no observations to make.  
 
 
 

Page 13



Description of Site and its Surroundings: 
 
The site is broadly rectangular in shape and predominantly flat in profile 
and has an area of approximately 2.8ha. It is located to the east of 
Water Street and to the south of St David’s Park a development of large 
detached properties set around a series of cul-de-sacs. Most of the site 
is taken up by a golf driving range facility, with a hard surfaced parking 
area adjacent to Water Street and a single storey, low mono pitched 
roofed building which housed the driving bays and ancillary facilities. 
The grassed driving range area, which is enclosed extends eastwards. 
A private track runs along the site’s southern boundary providing access 
to a single dwelling, Cwrt Bychan House located to the south east. A 
watercourse known as Tu Du Brook runs alongside the north-eastern 
and eastern boundaries. A hedgerow is present along the southern 
boundary. Agricultural land lies to the east and south of the site. The 
residential development of Eglwys Nunydd lies to the north of St Davids 
Park. To the western side of Water Street is Lakeside Golf Course 
beyond this the M4 motorway.  
 
The application site is accessed from St David’s Park via Water Street 
(B4283). 
 
 
Brief description of proposal: 
 
Outline planning permission is sought for up to 35 dwellings. All matters 
relating to access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are 
reserved for subsequent approval. 
 
In line with the requirements of outline planning applications, the 
applicant has submitted an indicative layout and scale parameters. This 
illustrates the provision of dwellings served by two access points leading 
off St David’s Park with each dwelling providing off street parking with a 
number of dwellings opposite No’s 19, 20, 23 and 27 St David’s Park 
having access directly off the existing estate road. An area 
approximately 0.47 hectares and located adjacent to the eastern 
boundary of the site denotes the proposed provision of Public Open 
Space which would serve the development. The illustrative plan 
indicates the layout and provision of Open Space to facilitate this would 
require the removal of an existing tree line, however the layout does 
make provision for the retention of the existing hedgerow along the 
south and eastern boundary to be retained.  Whilst the illustrative plan 
indicates that the dwellings are medium to large in scale and are sited 

Page 14



within large gardens, they are smaller than those within the adjacent St 
Davids Park development. 
 
The indicative scale parameters provided in support of this application 
are:  
 
Detached and Semi Detached dwellings 
 
Minimum height: 7m 
Maximum height: 10.5m 
Minimum width: 6m 
Maximum width 14.5m  
Minimum depth: 8m 
Maximum depth: 14m  
 
Garages 
 
Minimum/Maximum height: 4m 
Minimum width: 3.2m 
Maximum width 6m  
Minimum depth: 6.2m 
Maximum depth: 6.5m  
 
EIA and AA Screening:  
 
The application site exceeds the Schedule 2 threshold for development 
of this type as outlined within the Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations. As such the application has been screened in accordance 
with the requirements of Schedule 3 of the Regulations. The findings of 
the screening report were that the scale and nature of the potential 
impacts associated with the development both alone and in combination 
with other developments within the area would not be of a type that 
would require the carrying out of an Environmental Impact Assessment 
or the subsequent submission of an Environmental Statement in support 
of the application.  
 
The proposed development is not located within a zone of influence for 
any SAC, CSAC or Ramsar sites and as such it is considered that an 
Appropriate Assessment as set down within the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 is not required.  
 

Page 15



Material Considerations: 
 
The main issues to be considered in the determination of this application 
is  the principle of the proposed development at this location having 
regard to the national planning policy guidance and prevailing and 
emerging development plan policies,  as well as the impact upon the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area; the residential 
amenity of the occupiers of the adjacent properties; the highway and 
pedestrian safety of the existing road network; the effect upon the 
biodiversity quality of the application site, drainage, flooding, pollution 
and archaeology together with other issues raised by consultees. 
 
Policy Context: 
 
National Planning Policy: 
 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 7, July 2014). 
 
Technical Advice Note 2: Planning and Affordable Housing (2006) 
Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 
Technical Advice Note 6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities 
(2010) 
Technical Advice Note 11: Noise (1997) 
Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2014) 
Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood Risk (2004) 
Technical Advice Note 16: Sport, Recreation and Open Space (2009) 
Technical Advice Note 18: Transport (2007) 
 
Local Planning Policy: 
 
Adopted Local Development Plan (LDP) 
 
In accordance with the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
the Council prepared the Local Development Plan (2011-2026).The LDP 
was submitted for independent Examination to the Planning 
Inspectorate on 30th September 2014 and the Ministers of the Welsh 
Government appointed independent Inspectors to conduct the 
Examination to assess the soundness of the Plan. The LDP 
Examination officially ended on the 2nd December 2015 when the 
Council received the Inspectors’ Report from the Planning Inspectorate. 
The Report was published and the recommendations contained within 
were ‘binding’, meaning that the Council had to accept the changes 
recommended by the Inspectors.  

Page 16



 
The Council formally adopted the LDP on 27th January 2016, and 
therefore the proposal must now be assessed against the following 
relevant Policies within the LDP: - 
 

• Strategic Policy SP 3 –Sustainable Communities  
• Strategic Policy SP7 –Housing Requirement  
• Policy SC1 – Settlement Limits  
• Policy SP4- Infrastructure 
• Strategic Policy SP10- Open Space 
• Policy OS 1 – Open Space Provision  
• Strategic Policy SP14 – The Countryside and the Undeveloped 

Coast 
• Policy EN3/5 – Green Wedges Margam  
• Strategic Policy SP16 –Environmental Protection  
• Policy EN8 – Pollution and Land Stability  
• Strategic Policy SP17- Minerals  
• Policy M2- Surface Coal Operations  
• Strategic Policy SP20 –Transport Network  
• Policy TR2 – Design and Access of New Development  
• Strategic Policy SP21 – Built Environment and Historic Heritage 
• Policy BE1 –Design   
• Strategic Policy SP8 – Affordable Housing 
• Policy AH1 – Affordable Housing  
• Strategic Policy SP 15 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity  
• Strategic Policy SP7 –Housing Requirement  

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance  
 

• Affordable Housing  
• Biodiversity  
• Residential development and open space provision   
• Developer Contributions  

 
Housing Density 
 
Policy BE1 (8a) of the adopted Local Development Plan  states that 
‘normally a minimum of 35 dwellings per hectare in the Coastal Strategy 
Area or a minimum of 30 per hectare in the Valleys Strategy Area’ will 
be required. 
 

Page 17



Principle of Development: 
 
The application site lies outside the settlement limits defined by Policy 
SC1 of the adopted LDP, and is designated as an area of Green Wedge 
under Policy ENV3/5. Given its countryside location, and in the absence 
of any agricultural or forestry justification, the proposed residential 
development is contrary to Policy SC1 of the adopted LDP.  
 
This is supported by national guidance with paragraph 9.2.22 of 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) noting that: 
 
‘In order to safeguard the character and appearance of the countryside, 
to reduce the need to travel by car and to economise on the provision of 
services, new houses in the countryside, away from existing settlements 
recognised in the development plans or from other areas allocated for 
development, must be strictly controlled.’ 
 
A green wedge designation and protection policy is included within the 
adopted LDP in the form of Policy EN 3.This policy designates five 
separate green wedges one of which extends across the application 
site, and also seeks to prevent the coalescence of settlements and to 
protect the setting of urban areas. The policy clearly states that there 
will be a presumption against inappropriate development within the 
designated green wedges. 
   
These policies affirm that the construction of new buildings in a Green 
wedge is inappropriate unless there is an agricultural or forestry need, 
and only in exceptional circumstances will inappropriate development be 
permitted. As the proposal does not comply with any of these 
exceptions it is clear that the proposal contravenes these policies.  
 
Similarly, the proposal would not be supported by the advice in 
Technical Advice Note 6- Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities. 
In PPW Para 4.9.1 advises that previously developed (or brownfield) 
land should, wherever possible, be used in preference to greenfield 
sites, particularly those of high agricultural or ecological value. It also 
acknowledges that not all previously developed land is suitable for 
development by virtue amongst others things of its location. It should be 
noted that the Planning Inspector in respect of a previous appeal for 27 
houses on this site concluded that ‘the guidance indicates that where 
the footprint of a building only occupies a proportion of a site the 
remainder of which is open land, the whole of the site should not 
normally be developed to the boundary of the curtilage…..In the light of 

Page 18



this I do not regard the previously developed land status of the golf 
driving range as a convincing argument in favour of the level of 
development proposed on the site.’ 
  
In respect of the claimed sustainability benefits of the proposal, these 
must be weighed against the implications of an additional 35 dwellings 
at this location. There is currently no public transport serving the 
adjacent residential developments, with the nearest located 
approximately 0.75 miles away, which means that both existing and 
proposed residents would be heavily reliant on private means of 
transport which is compounded by poor pedestrian linkages. In addition 
there are no community facilities or local services nearby except for the 
Golf course and associated restaurant. 
 
It is considered that the adopted Local Development Plan is consistent 
with national guidance in relation to settlement strategy. Para 4.7.4 of 
PPW states:- 
 
“Local planning authorities should assess the extent to which their 
development plan settlement strategies and new development are 
consistent with minimising the need to travel and increasing 
accessibility by modes other than the private car. A broad balance 
between housing and employment opportunities in both urban and rural 
areas should be promoted to minimise the need for long distance 
commuting. Local authorities should adopt policies to locate major 
generators of travel demand such as housing, employment, retailing, 
leisure and recreation, and community facilities including libraries, 
schools and hospitals within existing urban areas or in other locations 
which are, or can be, well served by public transport, or can be reached 
by walking or cycling.”   
 
Given the fairly remote location of this site at some distance from the 
necessary facilities and public transport linkages referred to above it is it 
is considered that the site is not located in a sustainable location as 
such future residents would be largely dependent on the private car for 
access to shops, employment, leisure, education, etc. contrary to 
national guidance which states at paragraph 4.7.7 of PPW:-  
   
“For most rural areas the opportunities for reducing car use and 
increasing the use of public transport, walking and cycling are more 
limited than in urban areas. In rural areas the majority of new 
development should be located in those settlements which have 
relatively good accessibility by non-car modes when compared to the 

Page 19



rural area as a whole. Local service centres, or clusters of smaller 
settlements where a sustainable functional linkage can be 
demonstrated, should be designated by local authorities and be 
identified as the preferred locations for most new development including 
housing and employment provision. The approach should be supported 
by the service delivery plans of local service providers.”    
 
Whilst it is acknowledged that the site is falling into disrepair which in 
turn is adversely affecting visual amenity, there are other mechanisms 
available to address this issue including enforcement action under both 
the Planning and Environmental Health legislation. It is also 
acknowledged that there is an existing lawful use operating at the site, 
which can continue to operate on condition that it complies with all the 
relevant legislation including those relating to Health and Safety.  
 
Whilst these are material to the lawful status of the site they are not 
considered to be sufficient to override the arguments relating to 
sustainability and countryside protection. Furthermore it is considered 
that if permission were granted for residential development on this 
unsustainable and inappropriately located site it would set an 
undesirable precedent that would seriously undermine the local and 
national objectives to safeguard the countryside for its own sake. 
Accordingly, the proposed residential development would represent a 
departure to the Development Plan, and it is therefore pertinent that 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
requires that “where in making any determination under the planning 
Acts, regard is to be had to the development plan, the determination 
shall be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise”. Such material considerations are 
addressed later in this report.  
 
Housing Need: 
 
The 2014 Joint Housing Land Availability Study (Published in May 2015) 
identified a shortfall in the 5 year land supply whereby the Council could 
only demonstrate the availability of a 2.5 year supply. The reason 
associated with such a low land supply was associated with the fact that 
the adopted UDP was coming towards the end of its plan period and as 
such those sites which were allocated within the plan and which were 
readily available for development had already been developed. Whilst 
this was a concern for some time, the LDP sought to address this 
problem by allocating further land to ensure that a supply is made 
available to provide an additional 7800 new properties over the life time 

Page 20



of the plan (until 2016). This housing need and the associated 
allocations to meet that need have been assessed as part of a detailed 
Examination in Public (EIP). The Council is now in receipt of the 
Inspectors report into that EIP which is legally binding upon the Council. 
The Inspectors are satisfied that the projected housing need together 
with the strategy and policies to deliver that need are robust. It is 
therefore considered that there is no justification to approve housing 
developments which are contrary to the adopted  LDP on the basis of 
insufficient land supply.  
 
Visual Amenity: 
 
With regards to the character of the existing area, the St. David’s Park 
development was granted planning permission as part of a package to 
support the provision of a public golf course including the Driving 
Range. The existing development was designed at a very low density of 
6 dwellings per hectare, the dwellings being large detached properties 
set well within wide fronted sites. The layout is such that open views of 
the mature landscape backdrop appear between the dwellings. This 
helps to create an open character to the development limiting its impact 
upon the surrounding rural area. 
 
The supporting documentation suggests in Para 5.75 that ‘the site can 
support appropriate residential development without any 
significant impacts on landscape character and visual amenity.’ 
Whilst it is acknowledged that PPW does accept that extensions to 
existing small groups of dwellings in the countryside may be acceptable, 
this is dependent on the character of the surroundings and the number 
of such groups in the area.  Indeed, national guidance at paragraph 
5.1.1 of PPW recognises the importance of the natural heritage of 
Wales both for its own sake and for the health and the social and 
economic wellbeing of individuals and communities. In addition PPW 
states at paragraph 4.6.4:-   
 
“The countryside is a dynamic and multi-purpose resource. In line with 
sustainability principles, it must be conserved and, where possible, 
enhanced for the sake of its ecological, geological, physiographic, 
historical, archaeological and agricultural value and for its landscape 
and natural resources, balancing the need to conserve these attributes 
against the economic, social and recreational needs of local 
communities and visitors. Central to this is ensuring that the countryside 
is resilient to the impacts of climate change and plays a role in reducing 

Page 21



the causes of climate change through the protection of carbon sinks and 
as a sustainable energy source.”  
  
As already noted PPW accepts that new house building in the 
countryside should be strictly controlled and paragraph 9.3.1 requires 
that new housing should be well integrated with and connected to the 
existing pattern of settlements, with the expansion of towns and villages 
avoiding the creation of ribbon development, the coalescence of 
settlements or a fragmented development pattern.  
 
The supporting Design and Access Statement notes at paragraph 6.2:-  
 
‘The development will:   

• Respect local character; 
• Create a successful relationship between public and private 

space; 
• Promote quality, choice and variety. 

 
The development will draw on the character of the local area and will 
also create a place that has familiar elements to aid legibility.’ 
 
This is not accepted. In contrast it is considered that the scale of the 
development, comparative to the existing houses, is such that it will 
represent a considerable intensification and consolidation of housing in 
this rural location. Rather than be viewed as merely part of the backdrop 
to the existing houses, it is considered that they will represent a 
significant intrusion into the landscape and serve to urbanise the area to 
the detriment of the existing  rural character.  
 
Whilst it is accepted that there is a substantial mature hedgerow along 
the southern boundary of the site which would go some way in 
screening the proposed development, this limited screening alone does 
not negate the openness, character and appearance of the site and its 
relationship to the existing built development.  
 
This view was supported by the Planning Inspector when considering a 
previous appeal where it was concluded that ‘In light of my findings as to 
the existing character, appearance and predominant openness of the 
appeal site and its relationship to the existing housing, I consider that 
the effect of the proposal would be to increase radically the developed 
character of the appeal site and significantly increase the impact of built 
development in this rural location, to the detriment of the character and 
appearance of the countryside.’ 

Page 22



This open character and appearance is unchanged since the previous 
appeal whilst the density of proposed development has increased under 
the current application. It is therefore considered that the proposal would 
give rise to a sporadic form of development to the detriment of the 
character and appearance of the rural area, contrary to national and 
Local Plan objectives to restrict new residential development outside 
designated settlement areas. 
 
Residential Amenity: 
 
The illustrative plan which accompanies the application demonstrates 
that a minimum of 21 metres between the existing dwellings 
(19,20,23,24 and 27 St David’s Park) to the north and a minimum of 30 
metres between the development  and properties to the north east will 
be maintained. There is one further existing property located to the 
south on the opposite side of the access track which is known as 
Cwrtbychan House and is sited in excess of 38 metres from the nearest 
proposed dwelling. These distances are sufficient to ensure that the site 
can be developed in a manner which would ensure that there would be 
no unacceptable overbearance or overshadowing impacts. 
 
Accordingly, it is considered that the residential development in principle 
would not adversely impact upon the amenities and basic living 
conditions of neighbouring dwellings if designed and laid out suitably. 
Such detail would be considered at a reserved matters stage should 
outline planning permission be granted.  
 
Highway Safety (e.g. Parking and Access): 
 
A Transport Statement accompanies the application the contents of 
which have been assessed by The Head of Engineering and Transport 
(Highways) who has considered the increase in vehicular traffic 
associated with up to 35  additional dwellings. It is concluded that the 
impact of the proposed development can be accommodated within the 
existing and proposed highway network and that the proposed 
development will not significantly worsen the free flow of traffic on Water 
Street to warrant refusal of the application. As a result there is no 
objection to this development on highway and pedestrian safety grounds 
subject to the imposition of a number of conditions which include the 
provision of a right hand turn lane, improvements to the existing access 
serving St David’s Park, provision of a footpath linking the site to Eglwys 
Nunydd and submission of a Construction Method Statement together 
with a series of conditions in respect of parking requirements, drive 

Page 23



lengths and gradients, bin storage, pedestrian vision splays and road 
surfacing. 
 
Flooding:  
 
In respect of flood consequences, the site is partially identified by the 
Development Advice Map as being within Zone C2. Accordingly, the 
applicant has submitted a Flood Consequences Assessment (FCA) to 
accompany the application which has been reviewed by NRW who has 
offered no objections providing there are no alterations to ground levels 
in the northern part of the site which is deemed to be at flood risk from 
the Tu Du Brook. The area at risk of flooding is however identified for 
use as Public Open Space and as such no proposed dwellings as 
indicated on the illustrative plan will be affected nor will there be an 
impact upon 3rd party land.  
 
It is concluded that the development would be acceptable in terms of 
flooding and would accord with TAN 15 and Planning Policy Wales. 
 
Pollution: 
 
The Land Contamination Officer and NRW have raised no objections to 
the proposal having regard to the submitted desk top study subject to 
the imposition of conditions in respect of a remediation strategy, 
submission of verification report, long term monitoring and maintenance 
plan, unexpected contamination and Construction and Environmental 
Management Plan detailing the pollution prevention measures. 
However, the submitted desk study has not identified the need to carry 
out a risk assessment for ground gas associated with the coal seams 
and this should be addressed. 
 
Coal Mining: 
 
The application site falls within the defined Development High Risk 
Area. The Coal Authority concurs with the recommendations outlined in 
the submitted Desk Study Report, that coal mining legacy poses a risk 
to the proposed development and that intrusive investigation works 
should be carried out prior to development. The Coal Authority 
considers that the content and conclusions meet the requirements of 
Planning Policy Wales in demonstrating that the application site is, or 
can be made, safe and stable for the proposed development. The Coal 
Authority therefore has no objection to the proposal subject to the 
imposition of a condition to secure the necessary intrusive site 
investigations and any remedial works required. 

Page 24



Drainage: 
 
The surface water strategy proposes to outfall the developments run off 
into the river running alongside the eastern boundary of the site. It is 
intended to retain the existing sewage pumping station (north west of 
the site) and remove the private sewage pumping station (north east of 
the site) as it is deemed ‘not fit for purpose’.  
 
Welsh Water has confirmed that no problems are envisaged with the 
Waste Water Treatment works for the treatment of domestic discharges 
from the site and that a water supply can be made available to serve the 
development.  In respect of foul sewerage they have confirmed that the 
existing drainage infrastructure is only sufficient to accommodate the 
foul for the first 10 dwellings only, following which the developer will 
have to secure funding to carry out the necessary improvements for the 
remaining 25 dwellings. As a consequence, Welsh Water recommends 
the imposition of a condition requiring a hydraulic modelling assessment 
to identify any required improvements to the sewerage system.  
 
NRW recommends that a sustainable drainage system is utilised and a 
suitably worded condition be imposed to secure the details of the 
scheme. The Authority’s own Drainage Engineer raises no objection to 
the proposal subject to an additional condition requiring a survey of the 
existing road drainage system. 
 
The proposed development is in outline with all matters of detail 
reserved for subsequent approval. In any case it is unusual to have full 
details of how foul and surface water drainage will be dealt with at 
outline stage. The Council’s Drainage Engineer, Welsh Water and NRW 
have reviewed the submitted details, none of whom raise objection in 
principle but all suggest appropriately worded conditions should the 
application be approved to ensure full details are provided to allow 
adequate assessment and implementation of foul and water drainage 
and flood avoidance. 
 
Archaeology: 
 
The supporting information in the form of an Archaeological Desk Based 
Assessment has been considered Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological 
Trust (GGAT) advises that due to the known archaeological features 
nearby at Eglwys Nunydd there remains a possibility that such features 
may exist within the site. To mitigate the impact on the archaeological 
resource and that appropriate work is undertaken to lessen this impact 

Page 25



GGAT recommends the imposition of a condition ensuring 
archaeological investigations are carried out.  
 
Noise: 
 
In view of the proximity of the M4 to the site together with Water Street, 
it is important to consider the impact of the noise generated by traffic on 
any future occupiers of the development. This issue is reinforced in 
PPW and Para10 of TAN 11 (Noise) which emphasises that regard must 
be had to transport-related noise generating activities and the possible 
incompatibilities of proposals for new noise sensitive development 
should be taken into consideration and account taken of the level of 
current noise exposure and possible future increase when determining 
planning applications. The proposal has been assessed by the 
Authority’s Environmental Health Officer who has confirmed that traffic 
noise from the M4 is clearly audible even under unfavourable noise 
conditions. In addition, HGV and other vehicle movements on Water 
Street (B4283) also impact on the application site. However, he 
concludes that it is unlikely that environmental noise levels would be so 
high as to preclude residential development of the site. Consequently, 
he raises no objection to the proposal subject to the imposition of a 
condition requiring an Environmental Noise Assessment be undertaken 
for both internal and external residential amenity areas as part of a 
reserved matters application.  
 
Ecology: 
 
Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning states that: 
 
Biodiversity, conservation and enhancement is an integral part of 
planning for sustainable development. The planning system has an 
important part to play in nature conservation. The use and development 
of land can pose threats to the conservation of natural features and 
wildlife. Past changes have contributed to the loss of integrity of habitat 
networks through land-take, fragmentation, severance, disturbance, 
hydrological changes and adverse impacts. 
 
But development can also present significant opportunities to enhance 
wildlife habitats and enjoyment and understanding of the natural 
heritage. The planning system needs to be watchful of the cumulative 
effects of a series of small, perhaps occasional, apparently insignificant 
losses from the natural world, which can combine to seriously deplete 
the natural heritage, including essential hydrological and ecological 

Page 26



system; small scale opportunities for habitat creation and enhancement 
can be significant and can build into major contributions over time. 
 
In addition it states that the development control process is a critical 
stage in delivering the protection and enhancement of nature 
conservation by PPW. The following can help to achieve these 
objectives: 
 

• Adopting the five point approach to decision-making- information, 
avoidance, mitigation, compensation and new benefits; 

• Ensuring that planning applications are submitted with adequate 
information, using early negotiation, checklists, requiring 
ecological surveys and appropriate consultation; 

• Securing necessary measures to protect, enhance, mitigate and 
compensate through planning conditions and obligations; 

• Carrying out effective enforcement; 
• Identifying ways to build nature conservation into the design of the 

development. 
 
TAN 5 confirms that through the use of conditions, the delivery of a 
number of positive benefits to biodiversity beyond those of simply 
avoiding adverse effects as possible, including: 
 

• The submission and agreement of a landscape scheme so that 
greater attention can be given to issues such as species 
composition; 

• The maintenance of landscape planting for a five year period, or 
longer, where the need for this can be justified; 

• Habitat enhancement; 
• The restoration and aftercare of a site where a positive approach 

to restoration and after-use required by conditions can produce 
significant biodiversity benefits in terms of habitat creation and 
enhancement. 

 
The Authority’s Biodiversity Unit has considered the submitted desk 
study and Phase 1 Habitat Survey and advised that a condition requiring 
the submission of a Landscape and Environmental Management Plan 
be imposed. This requirement is endorsed by NRW who also supports 
the recommendations in respect of the protection of habitats during 
construction and retention as part of the development. In addition, they 
also recommend that a condition is imposed on any consent requiring a 
suitably protective buffer restricting built development including lighting 

Page 27



and formal landscaping is incorporated between any development and 
the watercourse. As Japanese Knotweed is present on the site it is 
further suggested that a condition is imposed requiring a detailed 
method statement for its removal or long term management/eradication.  
 
Having regard to the above, it is considered that the ecological impact of 
the development has been adequately considered within the submitted 
information. Through the imposition of conditions, the impacts of the 
development both during and post construction and ongoing future 
management and monitoring can be mitigated so that any adverse 
impacts can be dealt with. 
 
In respect of arboricultural issues, there are a number of trees within or 
adjoining the site which have screening value. As such, a tree survey 
has been conducted and submitted in support of the planning 
application. The Authority’s Arboricultural Officer has inspected the tree 
report and is generally happy with its findings subject to a condition 
ensuring the protection of the trees during construction; it is considered 
that the development can be accommodated without having a harmful 
impact on the surrounding trees. 
 
Section 106 Planning Obligations: 
 
The Council’s approved Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 
provides the local policy basis for seeking planning obligations through 
Section 106 Agreements. However, each case must be considered on 
its own planning merits having regard to all relevant material 
circumstances.  
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 came into force 
on 6th April 2010 in England and Wales. They introduced limitations on 
the use of planning obligations (Reg. 122 refers). As of 6th April 2010, a 
planning obligation may only legally constitute a reason for granting 
planning permission if it is:  
 
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  
(b)   directly related to the development; and  
(c)   fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  
 
In this case, the proposal relates to an outline planning application for 
the development of the site for up to 35 residential units. Although this 
report outlines the justification for the refusal of the development, it is 
still necessary to examine what planning obligations would be required if 

Page 28



the application were acceptable in all other respects. Having considered 
the nature and scale of the development, the local circumstances and 
needs arising from the development, and what it is reasonable to expect 
the developer to provide in light of the relevant national and local 
planning policies, the planning obligations referred to below are 
considered necessary.  
 
The required contributions would include:- 
 
Public Open Space (POS) 
 
Policy OS1 of the LDP states that where there is a quantitative 
deficiency in outdoor sport, children’s play, informal space or allotments, 
provision will be sought, including the requirement for maintenance, in 
conjunction with all new residential developments of 3 or more 
dwellings.  
 
Where it is impractical to provide open space and/or recreational 
facilities on site or where existing open space provision is deficient in 
quality in the immediate locality, the Council may be willing to accept 
alternative provision i.e. off-site contribution payments.  
    
Furthermore, the LDP Background Paper on open space identifies an 
existing deficiency of children’s play facilities in the ward that would be 
exacerbated by the increase in population arising from the proposed 
development.   
 
The ‘Open Space and Indoor Leisure’ Topic paper, produced in support 
of the adopted Local Development Plan, identifies that only Onllwyn, 
Coedfranc West and Coedfranc Central have sufficient children’s play, 
with all other wards deficient. Accordingly, there is a need for the 
development to contribute towards addressing such deficiency.  
 
The Authority’s Play Officer advises that the proposed development sits 
well outside the buffer areas for existing local and neighbourhood 
provision and there are no play facilities available that children living on 
the development could access. The submitted illustrative plan includes 
an area of open space approximately 0.5 hectares in area which 
accords with the recommendation of the Play Officer for the preferred 
provision of onsite open space provision. 
 

Page 29



Housing: 
 
With regards to the issue of affordable housing, Policy AH1 of the LDP 
requires that all new housing developments within the Port Talbot 
spatial area requires 25% affordable housing should be sought. As this 
application seeks outline planning permission, a suitably worded 
condition, if permission were granted, would be imposed on the 
application requiring the provision for affordable housing to be agreed at 
reserved matters stage. 
 
The applicant has submitted a statement in support of the development 
at this location which identify a number of benefits which they consider 
are sufficient to justify approving this development contrary to the 
development plan. As stated earlier in this report, Section 38 of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require proposals to be 
considered having regard to the Development Plan unless material 
considerations dictate otherwise. The applicant considers the following 
material considerations to be of sufficient weight to justify departing from 
the LDP. These individual considerations together with the assessment 
of the considerations are as follows: 
 
 
The applicant argues in favour of the development on the basis 
that it will result in the provision of up to 35 homes, comprising a 
range of dwelling sizes and types which will contribute to the 
housing supply in NPT; 
 
The provision of a variety of housing types on sustainable sites has 
been considered in the LDP. Whilst this site was considered as a 
candidate site within the LDP process it was discounted as it was not 
sustainably located and did not accord with the Council’s settlement 
strategy. Whilst it is acknowledged that the Welsh Government is 
pushing for additional housing provision, this topic was assessed and 
debated at length within the recent Examination in Public for the LDP. 
Welsh Government officers were in attendance at the hearings 
associated with housing need and supply and also submitted 
documents associated with this topic. The Council is now in receipt of 
the Planning Inspectors report into the emerging LDP. This report 
amongst other things considers the population projections and the 
associated housing need for the County Borough. The Inspectors report 
confirms that the level of housing proposed within the emerging plan is 
sufficient and as such there is no justification at this stage to approve a 
housing development contrary to our adopted and emerging policies.  

Page 30



 
The development will make a significant affordable housing 
contribution in line with policy and will help to meet the affordable 
housing need in NPT as a whole; 
 
The Applicant has indicated that an affordable housing contribution 
would be made in the form of a commuted sum rather than on site 
provision. This contribution would amount to 25% of the number of units 
at 60% of the market value of the units, in line with the LDP policy and 
the adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance. Whilst it is 
acknowledged that the proposal would contribute to the provision of 
affordable housing within the County Borough to meet an identified need 
this does not outweigh the harm caused to the character and 
appearance of the area and the unsustainable location of the site.  
 
The development will be located on a partially brownfield site 
which can help to reduce the need to release suitable sites for 
residential development; 
 
This issue has been addressed earlier in the report where it is argued 
that the site is largely open in aspect and there is no justification to 
redevelop the site in this rural location. 
 
The development will provide significant improvements to the road 
and associated infrastructure within St David’s Park including 
lighting and bringing the road up to adoptable standards; 
 
The potential benefits that would result from the existing St David’s Park 
Road being completed would be welcomed by the existing residents. 
However, it is considered that this would not outweigh the harm that 
would be caused to the rural character and appearance of the 
surrounding area. 
 
The proposal will result in the redevelopment of a site which could 
otherwise become derelict and undesirable in appearance to a 
more compatible use with the neighbouring dwellings; 
 
Whilst it is acknowledged that the application site may become further 
derelict in the future should the owner choose not to invest in its 
maintenance and potentially that this could impact on the amenity of 
neighbouring residents and the visual amenity of the surrounding 
countryside, it is not considered that this is significant justification to 
warrant overriding development plan policies which seek to protect the 

Page 31



countryside. Furthermore there are provisions within the environmental 
health and planning legislation which can be enforced to ensure that 
owners of land and property maintain their land and property.  
 
The development will result in a strengthened settlement edge,  
which will be delivered without eroding the qualities or role of the 
Green Wedge; 
 
The application site is clearly located outside the settlement limits and 
as such does not lie adjacent to any defined settlement as identified in 
the LDP. As a result this proposal cannot strengthen a settlement edge 
at this location when one does not exist.  
 
The development will result in a high quality on-site public open 
space. 
 
As indicated earlier in this report, adopted and emerging development 
plan policies require the provision of open space to serve residential 
developments of a certain size. The provision of such open space on 
this site is not therefore different to any other site where such provision 
is required. It will not therefore result in a benefit which wouldn’t be 
expected on other similar sized sites. The provision of public open 
space does not therefore outweigh the identified harm which would be 
caused by the development.  
 
Significant economic benefits, including construction jobs, indirect 
and induced jobs, tax receipts and an annual expenditure by 
residents.  
 
Whilst socio economic benefits are a material consideration in the 
determination of an application, short term benefits associated with the 
construction of this development do not override the identified harm 
caused to the character and appearance of the site.  
 
Other Issues 
 
A number of objections raised by local residents have been addressed 
within the above appraisal. The remaining outstanding issues are 
addressed below:  
 
1. It is suggested that the site is offered for sale rather than 

developed for residential purposes. However decisions regarding 
the potential future use of the site is a matter for the applicant; 

Page 32



2. In regard to concerns over noise and disturbance associated with 
the construction phase of development, all construction works are 
likely to result in a degree of noise and disturbance to adjacent 
properties. However, these disturbances are temporary and a 
condition requiring the provision of a detailed Construction 
Environmental Management Plan should ensure that such noise, 
dust and disturbance are kept to a minimum. If in exceptional 
circumstances levels of noise and disturbance exceed normal 
levels and constitute a nuisance then these circumstances are 
governed by Environmental Health Nuisance Regulations. Whilst it 
is acknowledged that the introduction of residential development at 
this location has the potential to increase noise levels by virtue of 
an increase in vehicular movements it is considered that this 
would not be sufficient to warrant a refusal on these grounds. A 
view which is endorsed by the Environmental Health Officer who 
has raised no objection to the proposal; 

 
3. There are no Tree Preservation Orders (TPO) on the trees within 

the application site or land directly adjoining it, nor are the trees of 
sufficient merit to justify protection through a TPO. 

 
4. Devaluation of property is not a material planning consideration in 

the determination of this application; 
 
5. Turning to the concern that not all properties have been consulted, 

it should be noted that nine individual properties have been 
notified and the proposal has been advertised both in the press 
and by means of site notices. The statutory requirements only 
require those properties which adjoin the application site to be 
notified or for the application to be advertised on site. Both forms 
of advertisement have been completed in respect of this 
application which is over and above that required statutorily. 

 
6. Whilst it is acknowledged that the application has been submitted 

within 10 years of a previous refusal and dismissed appeal, there 
is no provision within the legislation to prevent the submission and 
subsequent assessment of this application on its individual merits; 

 
7. The application for Phase 2 of St David’s Park was determined  on 

its individual merits having regard to the prevailing development 
plan policies and material considerations at that time. 

 
8. Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposal will result in the loss of 

a sporting facility, this is a private driving range and is not covered 
by the criteria contained within policy OS2 within the LDP. 

Page 33



 
9. With regards to concerns over flooding. The applicants have 

submitted a Flood Consequences Assessment, which has been 
considered by NRW, who has raised no objection to the proposed 
development in relation to increased risk of flood or impacts upon 
third party land;  

 
10. In relation to concerns over car parking and the size of garden 

areas, the application seeks outline planning permission with all 
matters reserved for determination at a later date via separate 
reserved matters applications. This includes details of the 
proposed layout of the development including car parking 
provision. The submitted illustrative plan demonstrates that the 
site is large enough to accommodate up to 35 dwellings on site 
together with the associated car parking and private amenity 
space; 

 
Conclusion: 
 
Having regard to Policies SP3, SP7, SC1, SP10, OS1, SP14, EN3/5, 
SP16, EN8, SP17, M2, SP20, TR2, SP21, BE1, SP8, AH1 SP15 and 
SP7  of the adopted Local Development Plan; and national guidance 
contained in Planning Policy Wales, TANs 2, 5, 6, 11, 12, 15, 16 and 18 
it is considered that the proposal represents an unjustifiable and 
unsustainable form of residential development located outside the 
defined settlement, which would have a detrimental impact upon the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area . It would also 
amount to inappropriate development which would prejudice the 
openness of the Green Wedge, for which there are no material 
considerations which outweigh the harm caused. 
 
The decision to recommend refusal of planning permission has been 
taken in accordance with Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, in determining a planning 
application the determination must be in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 

Page 34



Recommendation: Refuse for the following reasons 
 
(1) By reason of the site’s rural location and the absence of adequate 

links to sustainable modes of transport, future occupiers of the 
proposed development would be overly reliant on the private car to 
access basic day to day services. The proposal would therefore 
represent an unsustainable form of development that would be 
contrary to the objectives of National Policy and guidance 
contained within Planning Policy Wales, Technical Advice Note 6 – 
Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities and TAN 18- 
Transport together with local planning policy objectives as defined 
by Policies SP3 and  TR2 of the Local Development Plan. 
 
 

(2) By reason of the site’s rural location, the lack of a clear physical 
relationship to an established settlement and the absence of an 
agricultural/forestry/ rural enterprise need, the proposal represents 
an unjustified form of residential development in the countryside 
that would detract from the openness of the Green Wedge and the 
character and appearance of the surrounding rural landscape. The 
development is therefore contrary to the countryside protection 
objectives of national planning policy and guidance as contained 
within Planning Policy Wales, TAN 6 - Planning for Sustainable 
Rural Communities and TAN 12 - Design in addition to failing to 
comply with Policies SP14 and EN3/5 of the Local Development 
Plan. 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION B – MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 
 
 
Current Position Paper Regarding Margam Open Cast Coal Site 
(OCCS) 
Enforcement Reference Number: E2013/0028 
 
 
Background 
 
As Members will be aware, Margam Open Cast Coal site ceased 
coaling in 2008 and since that time there has been no restoration of the 
site. Concerns have been raised by elected Members and residents 
within the local communities with regard to the lack of progress in 
relation to enforcing restoration.  
 
Members will recall that a report was placed before this Committee in 
September 2015 which advised on the history of the site, the 
enforcement constraints and the options going forward. Four options 
were proposed at that time which were as follows: 
 
Option One: Serve an Enforcement Notice 
 
Option Two: Serve an Enforcement Notice requiring an alternative 
restoration scheme (‘under-enforcing’) 
 
Option Three: Advise Celtic and Oak/Beech to seek planning 
permission for an alternative restoration scheme which proposes a 
new S106 agreement which would supersede the existing S106 
agreement. 
 
Option Four: Spend the money in the Escrow fund to undertake site 
safety and security works together with limited landscaping works. 
 
After a significant debate, Members resolved to accept Option Three, 
however this would be subject to a strict timetable to ensure that all 
parties progressed towards restoration of the site as soon as 
reasonably practicable. The agreed timetable was as follows: 

Page 37

Agenda Item 4



 
Action  Date 
Commence pre-application discussions 
with all regulators 31st October 2015 

Commence partial dewatering of the void 31st October 2015 
Submit Planning Application to both Local 
Planning Authorities. 

Beginning of 
January 2016 

Submit all necessary consents to NRW Beginning of 
January 2016 

Determination of planning application 
(subject to all required information being 
submitted on time) 

30th April 2016 

Work on a new Section 106 to run in 
tandem with the planning application. 
Signing of the S106 by all interested 
parties   

30th April 2016 
 

Commence works on site 31st May 2016 

Complete site safety and alternative 
restoration works 

No later than May 
2017 

 
Progress to date 
 
Members should note that since this resolution was made, officers from 
the Council as well as other regulators and representatives from Celtic 
have been working together to ensure that sufficient information is 
compiled to enable for the submission of an application for the 
alternative restoration scheme. 
 
As part of this process it was considered important to involve the Coal 
Authority who have substantial experience in designing, implementing 
and supervising large scale restoration schemes. As a consequence of 
the involvement of the Coal Authority, late alterations to the design of 
the restoration scheme were made. The application was subsequently 
submitted to both this authority and to Bridgend County Borough 
Council on the 2nd February 2016.  
 
Whilst it is acknowledged that this is a delay of a couple of weeks, it 
should be noted that the role of the Coal Authority is key to the 
successful delivery of this scheme. Not only will we able to draw down 
upon their wealth of experience in this field to ensure that only essential 
works are completed and costed from the escrow account, but they will 

Page 38



also ensure that sufficient funds are set aside to secure the delivery of 
the absolutely essential elements of the scheme. These include the 
creation of the drainage channel to maintain safe water levels within the 
void and the reinstatement of both Crown Road and Bedford Road, 
albeit to a lesser standard than was the case prior to the working of the 
site.  
 
Whilst it is acknowledged that progress has slightly departed from the 
timescales previously identified, the submission of the application and 
the cooperation of all parties to get to this stage, demonstrates a 
commitment to secure an acceptable alternative form of restoration for 
this site. 
 
Given the controversy and complicated history associated with this site 
regular updates will continue to be presented to Members.  This will 
include the application for the alternative restoration scheme being 
reported to the Planning Committee for a decision 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Members note the contents of this information report 
 
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION B – MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 
 
DELEGATED APPLICATIONS  
DETERMINED BETWEEN 12TH JANUARY AND 1ST FEBRUARY 
2016 
 

1     App No.  P2013/0323 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Retention of a detached dwelling, detached building to 
provide home gym and games room and associated retaining 
works (amendment to planning permission ref. P2012/0023 
granted on 11/9/12). 
Location  Heol Mabon,  Cwmavon, Port Talbot  
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Bryn & Cwmavon 

 

2     App No.  P2014/0361 Type Discharge of Cond.
  

Proposal Variation of condition 1 of application P2012/0020 
granted on the 06/12/12 to extend the temporary permission for a 
further 5 years. 
Location  Former Toyoda Trw Steering Systems Ltd, Neath Vale 
Supplier Park Access Road,  Resolven, Neath SA11 4HN 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Resolven 

 

3     App No.  P2014/0958 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Installation of vehicular security barrier. 
Location  Visteon Automotive Systems, Fabian Way,  Crymlyn 
Burrows, Swansea SA1 8QJ 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Coedffranc West 

 

4    App No.  P2014/1193 Type Full Plans  
Proposal New detached barn for the storage of potatoes (Use 
Class B8), plus retention of engineering operation for the 
importation of inert material. 
Location  Land South Of, Neath Road,  Abergarwed, Neath  
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Resolven 

 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 5



5     App No.  P2015/0349 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Installation of a 20MW gas powered standby electricity 
generation plant and associated works 
Location  Site At, Edward Works,  Llandarcy, Neath SA10 6JY 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Coedffranc West 

 

6     App No.  P2015/0687 Type Householder  
Proposal Vehicular access to facilitate off street car parking 
including retaining works. (amended plans recived 09/12/15) 
Location  1 Maes Gwyn,  Aberdulais, Neath SA10 8LD 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Aberdulais 

 

7     App No.  P2015/0756 Type Householder  
Proposal First floor side extension and garage conversion. 
Location  3 Gelli Deg,  Caewern, Neath SA10 7PL 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Bryncoch South 

 

8     App No.  P2015/0771 Type Full Plans  
Proposal 3 detached residential dwellings 
Location  Land At Junction of Delfford And Heol Y Nant,  Rhos, 
Pontardawe  
Decision      Approved subject to s.106 
Ward           Rhos 

 

9     App No.  P2015/0805 Type Householder  
Proposal Creation of vehicular access and hard surfacing of 
garden with porous materials 
Location  120 Cimla Road,  Cimla, Neath SA11 3UD 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Neath South 

 

10     App No.  P2015/0832 Type Discharge of Cond. 
Proposal Details to be agreed in association with Condition 8 
(Car Park Layout) of P2014/1149 granted on 12/8/15 
Location  Old Fire Station, Water Street,  Aberavon, Port Talbot 
SA12 6LF 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Aberavon 

Page 42



 

11     App No.  P2015/0957 Type Householder  
Proposal First floor rear extension and detached garage 
Location  1 Ynysymaerdy Road,  Briton Ferry, Neath SA11 2TE 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Briton Ferry East 

 

12     App No.  P2015/0972 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Temporary two storey office building (Amended plans 
received 13.01.16) 
Location  Sandvik Osprey Limited, Milland Road,  Neath SA11 
1NJ 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Neath East 

 

13     App No.  P2015/0980 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Change of use of Retail unit (Use class A1) to Hot food 
takeaway (Use Class A3), new shopfront and kitchen extraction 
flue to rear elevation. 
Location  51 Castle Drive,  Cimla, Neath SA11 3YF 
Decision      Refusal 
Ward           Cimla 

 

14     App No.  P2015/0991 Type Change of Use  
Proposal Change of Use from retail (Class A1) to (Class A3) Hot 
food and drink and demolition of garage to rear. (amended 
proposal) 
Location  31 Green Street,  Neath SA11 1DF 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Neath North 

 

15     App No.  P2015/0994 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Retention of timber outbuilding for dog day care centre. 
Location  89 Bryn Road,  Cwmllynfell, Swansea SA9 2FR 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Cwmllynfell 

 

 

 

Page 43



16     App No.  P2015/1009 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Single storey side and rear extensions to existing retail 
unit. 
Location  83A Llansawel Crescent,  Briton Ferry, Neath  
SA11 2UW 
Decision      Approved subject to s.106 
Ward           Briton Ferry West 

 

17     App No.  P2015/1024 Type Householder  
Proposal Retention of raised roof to existing bungalow and side 
extension and proposed new single storey rear extension 
Location  12 Waungron,  Glynneath, Neath SA11 5AS 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Glynneath 

 

18     App No.  P2015/1041 Type Householder  
Proposal Two storey rear extension, plus balcony and steps. 
Location  TY Sarn Helen, Camnant Road,  Banwen, Neath  
SA10 9LT 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Onllwyn 

 

19     App No.  P2015/1043 Type LawfulDev.Cert-
Prop.  

Proposal Lawful development certificate (proposed) for a side 
conservatory 
Location  143 Delffordd,  Rhos Pontardawe, Swansea SA8 3EN 
Decision      Issue Lawful Dev.Cert. 
Ward           Rhos 

 

20     App No.  P2015/1051 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Proposed construction of a 460m access track and 
vehicle turning area plus associated engineering works 
Location  Land To The West Of Resolven Gauging Station And 
Weir, A465 South Bound,  Resolven, Neath  
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Resolven 

 

 

 

Page 44



21     App No.  P2015/1054 Type Vary Condition  
Proposal Variation of condition 3 and 4 to allow for an extension 
of time for the submission of reserved matters of planning 
permission P2012/0957 (Outline development for  a detached 
residential dwelling) 
Location  Land Adjoining, 33 Bethlehem Road,  Skewen, Neath 
SA10 6AW 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Coedffranc Cent 

 

22     App No.  P2015/1055 Type App under TPO  
Proposal  Works to one Oak Tree T2 - crown reduction by 2.5m-
3m covered by Tree Preservation Order T204/A1. 
Location  Rear Garden Of, 57 Waun Daniel,  Rhos Pontardawe, 
Swansea SA8 3HS 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Rhos 

 

23     App No.  P2015/1056 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Construction of first floor extension to engineering 
workshop 
Location  Sandvik Osprey Limited, Milland Road Industrial 
Estate,  Neath SA11 1NJ 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Neath East 

 

24     App No.  P2015/1063 Type Householder  
Proposal Retention of single storey rear extension 
Location  31 Sepia Close,  Sandfields, Port Talbot SA12 7NY 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Sandfields West 

 

25     App No.  P2015/1067 Type App under TPO  
Proposal Works to tree covered by Tree Preservation Order 
T283, epidermic trimming of Oak Tree and crown reduction of 
approximately 1.5 metres. 
Location  Land To The Side Of, 2 Derwen Deg,  Bryncoch, 
Neath SA10 7FP 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Bryncoch South 

 

Page 45



26     App No.  P2015/1068 Type LawfulDev.Cert-
Exist  

Proposal Lawful development certificate for an existing ground 
floor rear extension. 
Location  1 Park Avenue,  Lonlas, Neath SA10 6RA 
Decision      Issue Lawful Dev.Cert. 
Ward           Coedffranc North 

 

27     App No.  P2015/1072 Type LawfulDev.Cert-
Prop.  

Proposal Lawful Development Certificate (Proposed) for a MOT 
testing bay within an existing vehicle repairs workshop. 
Location  26-28 New Road,  Ynysmeudwy Pontardawe, 
Swansea SA8 4PJ 
Decision      Issue Lawful Dev.Cert. 
Ward           Pontardawe 

 

28     App No.  P2015/1074 Type Full Plans  
Proposal Proposed change of use of public house (Class A3) to 
dwelling house (Class C3) 
Location  Royal Oak Inn, Henfaes Road,  Tonna, Neath  
SA11 3EZ 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Tonna 

 

29     App No.  P2015/1075 Type Discharge of Cond.
  

Proposal Details pursuant to Condition10 (Means of Enclosure) 
of Planning Permission P2014/1109 (Approved on the 02/03/15) 
Location  Land At Evans Road,  Melin, Neath SA11 2DB 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Neath East 

 

30     App No.  P2015/1082 Type Householder  
Proposal Retention and completion of two storey side extension, 
single storey front extension and retaining wall (Amendment to  
P2015/0640 comprising of additional ground floor window to rear 
elevation of two storey side extension) 
Location  10 Maes Ty Canol,  Baglan, Port Talbot SA12 8UW 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Baglan 

 

Page 46



31     App No.  P2015/1087 Type App under TPO  
Proposal Felling of 1 No. Alder Tree (T1-T41) and felling of one 
stem of 1 No. Alder Tree (T2-T40) (3 stemmed Alder Tree) 
protected by Tree Preservation Order T276 T40 & T41 
Location  13 Rhiwlas,  Waunceirch, Neath SA10 7RB 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Bryncoch South 

 

32     App No.  P2015/1094 Type Householder  
Proposal Single storey detached garage 
Location  14 Afan Valley Road,  Cimla, Neath SA11 3SN 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Cimla 

 

33     App No.  P2015/1095 Type Discharge of Cond.
  

Proposal Details to be agreed in association with condition 2 
(external finishes), condition 9 (construction method statement), 
condition 11 (footway and loading bay improvements), condition 15 
(demountable bollards specification) and condition 16 (delivery 
management plan) of planning permission P2014/1176 granted on 
12/08/2015. 
Location  Former Crown Inn, 12 High Street,  Glynneath, Neath 
SA11 5BR 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Glynneath 

 

34     App No.  P2015/1113 Type Advertisement  
Proposal Replacement internally illuminated fascia signage and 
one number internally illuminated projecting sign. 
Location  Specsavers, 24 Green Street,  Neath SA11 1DG 
Decision      Approval with Conditions 
Ward           Neath North 

 

35     App No.  P2015/1114 Type LawfulDev.Cert-
Prop.  

Proposal Lawful Development (proposed) for a single storey rear 
extension 
Location  7 Abernant Road,  Cwmgors, Ammanford SA18 1RB 
Decision      Issue Lawful Dev.Cert. 
Ward           Gwaun-Cae-Gurwen 

 

Page 47



36     App No.  P2015/1140 Type Prior Notif.Demol.
  

Proposal Prior notification for the demolition of buildings to 
concrete slab level. 
Location  Technik Construction Limited, Talbot Wharf,, Road 
From Riverside Road To Harbour House,  Port Talbot SA13 1RH 
Decision      Prior Approval  Not Required 
Ward           Margam 

 

37     App No.  P2016/0015 Type Non Material 
Amendment (S96A)  

Proposal Non-material amendment to planning permission 
P2014/1146 to increase width of front porch, and alter cill level of 
first floor window. Alteration to rear window sizes, and provision of 
bifold doors. 
Location  50 Park Avenue,  Lonlas, Neath SA10 6SA 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Coedffranc North 

 

38     App No.  P2016/0016 Type Non Material 
Amendment (S96A)  

Proposal Non-material amendment to application P2014/0046 to 
agree material details following commencement of works. 
Location  Land At, Green Park Street,  Aberavon, Port Talbot 
SA12 6NU 
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Aberavon 

 

39     App No.  P2016/0027 Type Discharge of Cond.
  

Proposal Details pursuant to the discharge of condition 12 
(Ministry of Defence notification - Aviation safety) of planning 
permission P2014/0402 (Approved on the 02-09-2015) 
Location  Mynydd Y Gwrhyd,  North of Pontardawe, East of 
Cwmgors  
Decision      Approval with no Conditions 
Ward           Gwaun-Cae-Gurwen 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



40     App No.  P2016/0029 Type LawfulDev.Cert-
Prop.  

Proposal Lawful Development Certificate (Proposed) for a single 
storey rear extension. 
Location  5 Heol Pentwyn,  Skewen, Neath SA10 6DX 
Decision      Issue Lawful Dev.Cert. 
Ward           Coedffranc West 

 

41     App No.  P2016/0034 Type LawfulDev.Cert-
Prop.  

Proposal Lawful Development Certificate (Proposed) for a 
conservatory on the rear elevation. 
Location  80 Gwilym Road,  Cwmllynfell, Swansea SA9 2GN 
Decision      Issue Lawful Dev.Cert. 
Ward           Cwmllynfell 

 

42     App No.  P2016/0050 Type LawfulDev.Cert-
Prop.  

Proposal Lawful development certificate for a proposed 
conversion of garage to living accommodation. 
Location  Drymmau Fach, Drummau Road,  Skewen, Neath 
SA10 6NR 
Decision      Issue Lawful Dev.Cert. 
Ward           Coedffranc North 

 

 

 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To receive the Minutes of the previous meeting held on 19 January 2016
	3 Application No: P2015/0694 - Demolition of Existing Golf Driving Range and re- development of the Site for up to 35 dwellings at Lakeside Golf Driving Range, Water Street, Margam, Port Talbot,SA13 2PA
	4 Margam Open Cast Coal Site  (OCCS) - Update Report
	Current Position Paper Regarding Margam Open Cast Coal Site (OCCS)
	Enforcement Reference Number: E2013/0028

	5 Delegated Applications Determined between 12 January and 1 February 2016
	SECTION B – MATTERS FOR INFORMATION


